
Source: artspolicies.org

Measurement
Editorial for special Australasian edition of Cultural Trends 76, Volume 19 Issue 4, December 2010
Christopher Madden1

I am delighted to introduce this special Australasian edition of Cultural Trends. The edition is 
in two volumes: this first volume contains articles on measurement issues and cultural 
statistics; the second (Cultural Trends 77, Volume 20, Issue 1, 2011) contains reports on 
survey findings and articles on creative industries and arts funding.

The aim of the edition is to expose to an international audience a selection of issues currently 
occupying the minds of cultural policy researchers and statisticians in Australia and New 
Zealand. 

Australia and New Zealand share many similarities that make an Australasian edition logical. 
Both are British colonies and have the British monarch as their constitutional, albeit largely 
symbolic, head of state. Despite being colonised in different ways, the postcolonial histories 
of the two countries share broad similarities. Agriculture formed the early backbone of both 
economies, labour movements featured strongly in politics from the middle of the 20th 

Century, and both countries have a strong egalitarian ethic. The two countries often act as 
one, not just in aspects of government policy and administration, but also in the non-profit 
and private sectors. Over the years a range of government initiatives have worked to bring the 
countries closer together – plans currently afoot to make airline flights between the countries 
domestic, rather than international, are the latest in a long line of such initiatives. Integrative 
measures have not, however, gone as far as harmonising key economic levers, such as 
combining currencies or synchronizing tax rates. Overseas, ‘Aussies’ and ‘Kiwis’ are often 
lumped together as one, an association perhaps influenced through contact with ‘antipodean’ 
backpackers and working travellers, who share a reputation for hard work, openness and a 
passion for seemingly suicidal pastimes such as bungee jumping.

Inevitably, however, the countries have as many differences as similarities. At over 20 
million people, Australia’s population is five times larger than New Zealand’s. Given that 
Australia has 29 times the land mass, its average population density is around a fifth of New 
Zealand’s. Government administration differs substantially between the countries. Australia 
is a federation of states and territories. New Zealand’s administration is unitary rather than 
federal, with the national government conferring powers on 16 regional, or provincial, 
governments. Government power is consequently less centralised in Australia. 

Culturally, too, comparisons between the countries paint a picture of broad similarities with 
specific but important differences. As Kay Ferres, David Adair and Ronda Jones point out in 
their article in this volume, both countries can be considered multicultural. Multiculturalism 
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is, however, expressed in substantially different ways between the two countries. New 
Zealand’s multiculturalism overlays a deeply formalised biculturalism based on the Treaty of 
Waitangi, an agreement signed in 1840 between the British Crown and the Iwi, the tribes of 
New Zealand’s indigenous people, the Māori. No such treaty has been made with Australia’s 
indigenous Aboriginal and Torres Strait Island people. In addition, New Zealand’s cultural 
melting pot is strongly infused with the flavours of Polynesia, while Australia’s contains a 
more even spread of global ingredients.

Social, political and cultural differences between the countries such as those described above 
inevitably feed through to differences in cultural policies. An example can be seen in the 
cultural statistics framework developed by each country, with New Zealand’s biculturalism 
reflected in a division of the framework dedicated to uniquely indigenous cultural 
phenomena, Taonga tuku iho, which is not present in the Australian framework. The 
introduction to the next volume will explore other similarities and differences in Australian 
and New Zealand cultural policies.  But given that this volume focuses on evaluation and 
measurement, this introduction considers some of the key issues in Australasian cultural 
statistics.

Cultural statistics in Australia and New Zealand
The articles in this volume by Ferres et. al. and Carol Scott provide a good introduction to the 
cultural statistics system in Australasia. As the articles suggest, a notable characteristic of the 
system is the high degree of involvement of government agencies in the production of 
cultural data. The major producers of cultural statistics in Australasia are the government 
statistical agencies, the Australian Bureau of Statistics and Statistics New Zealand, supported 
by and working in close collaboration with key government departments and ministries. 
These agencies have a formalised platform for ongoing contact and collaboration in the form 
of the Cultural Ministers Council Statistics Working Group described by Ferres et. al. (Links 
to the Statistical Working Group and other key online resources are provided in the notes at 
the end of this editorial)

Of course, many non-government researchers produce data on culture through their own 
surveys, but usually not as regularly or on the scale of the government producers. Many of 
these independent collections are commissioned or supported by agencies within the 
Statistics Working Group system, or even by Working Group itself. For example, David 
Throsby’s renowned series of artist surveys (see the second volume of this Special 
Australasian edition of Cultural Trends) has over its life received funding from the Australia 
Council for the Arts, the government’s arm’s length arts support agency and member of 
Statistics Working Group. Australasia has few independent agents – or ‘cultural 
observatories’ – undertaking ongoing monitoring of developments in cultural policies and the 
cultural sector.

How well does this ‘Australasian approach’ to cultural statistics work? This might be 
answered by evaluating the Australasian situation against three common ‘complaints’ about 
cultural statistics: (i) the need for more data; (ii) the need for improved links between 
statistical evidence and policy development; and (iii) the need for better statistical measures 
(ie. a better understanding what it is we should be measuring and how we should go about 
measuring it). 

In Australasia, the second and third complaints constitute the major issues occupying the 
minds of researchers, decision makers and cultural statisticians. It is rare nowadays to hear 
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Australasian cultural policy researchers bemoan a lack of data. More common is the call for 
better measures or better links between evidence and policy, as the articles in this volume 
attest.

That Australasian cultural statistics have largely moved on from concerns over data 
availability can be attributed to the success of the cultural statistics programmes of the 
government statistics agencies. In particular, the Australian Bureau of Statistics, which enjoys 
economies of scale not achievable by its sister agency in New Zealand, has produced a wealth 
of data through its dedicated division, the National Centre for Culture and Recreation 
Statistics.

With data from independent surveys adding to and complementing data from government 
cultural statistics programmes, it is safe to say that Australasian cultural policymakers and 
decision makers now have an abundance of statistical information with which to monitor and 
analyse the cultural sector. 

Perhaps the greatest fear for any cultural statistician is that their data are not used, as this 
would represent not only wasted production resources, but also possibly lost opportunities for 
understanding the sector and improving policy. There are signs that such data underutilisation 
may be occurring in Australasia. Rather than argue the case in depth, I will illustrate this with 
a recent example in which data showing a groundswell in Australian cultural participation 
have been met with apparent disinterest. The case is described in detail below.

Data from the Australian Bureau of Statistics Work in culture leisure collection show a 
remarkable rise in Australians’ creative cultural participation between 2001 and 2007.2 

According to the collection, the number of people involved creatively in cultural activities 
grew by 52 percent over the period – nearly six times the growth in the adult population. 
Increases were particularly strong in the arts. Those involved in creating visual arts went 
from 503,200 to over 1.4 million (a 181 percent increase!). Craft involvements also more 
than doubled. The Bureau took pains to ensure comparability between surveys, as outlined in 
the extensive notes accompanying the 2007 release (Australian Bureau of Statistics, 2007).

These are astonishing figures. They suggest a fundamental shift in Australians’ participation 
in culture, with implications not just for the design and development of cultural policies, but 
also for cultural advocacy. Such rare and compelling numbers might be expected to stimulate 
a wave of commentary, analysis and interpretation. They are at least worthy of mainstream 
media attention for an area that in Australia has traditionally struggled to gain ‘good news’ 
coverage. Yet the data have come and gone largely without comment. Worst of all, they did 
not feature in the data package presented as background to the Creative Stream of Australia’s 
2020 Summit, a planning forum the new Federal Government convened soon after it came 
into office.3 According to the Summit website, the Summit ‘brought together some of the best 
and brightest brains from across the country to tackle the long term challenges confronting 

2 The collection produces data on ‘involvements’ in cultural and leisure ‘work’, where involvement represents 
creative participation (rather than receptive participation such as in attendances) and ‘work’ means that ‘some, 
or all, of that participation was not for the person’s own use or for the use of their family or friends (i.e. was not 
a hobby activity). The data quoted here come from table 13 in Australian Bureau of Statistics (2007). 2007 data 
are based on a sample size of over 26,000. 

3 Towards a creative Australia: the future of the arts, film and design, Australia 2020 Summit, April 2008, 
www.australia2020.gov.au/topics/creative.cfm 
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Australia’s future – challenges which require long-term responses from the nation beyond the 
usual three year electoral cycle’. It is highly regrettable that Summit participants did not have 
access to data revealing such a fundamental change in Australian culture. Strategies 
developed out of the Summit did not reflect the sort of insights the data would have allowed. 

The point of this example is not to ponder reasons or apportion blame for the apparent 
disinterest in such extraordinary figures, but to illustrate that a possible imbalance may exist 
between data production and data interpretation in Australasian cultural policy: there is 
certainly enough data, but are there enough analysts monitoring, mining and interpreting the 
data? The example suggests not.

The imbalance between data production and interpretation may be due in part to features 
inherent in the ‘Australasian approach’: it is not the brief of the key producers of data under 
the system, the statistical agencies, to undertake higher level analysis and interpretation of the 
meaning of the data. The main interpreters and analysts, government policy agencies, are 
subject to political sensitivities and are focussed on their own objectives and range of 
interests. It is easy to see how noteworthy data might be overlooked in such a system. This 
naturally begs the question, how much interesting information is sitting idly on websites and 
in libraries in the mundane tabulated form produced by the Australasian cultural statistical 
programmes? 

The ‘Australasian approach’ to cultural statistics has many benefits. Government statistical 
programmes can produce data relatively cheaply, and can bring large sample sizes, 
standardisation and high methodological standards to cultural data. The approach has clear 
strengths, but it also has weaknesses. Data production does not guarantee data utilisation – as 
Selwood (2004) suggested was also true of British data collection. A key challenge for 
Australasian cultural statistics is, I believe, to promote higher-level interpretation and 
analysis of the data produced by the government cultural statistics programmes. If the 
example presented here is any indication, this rich mine of data has only been superficially 
explored.

Articles in this edition
The first volume of this special Australasian edition of Cultural Trends contains four articles 
that focus on improving the measurement of culture for the purposes of policy.

The first article, A Delicate Flexibility: Valuing the Arts in Australian Life reports on a 
project undertaken by Kay Ferres, David Adair and Ronda Jones to provide a framework for 
the development of cultural indicators in Australia. They outline the Australian policy 
context, and notes difficulties presented to the project by the country’s lack of a formalised 
cultural policy. The authors argue for a framework that covers both intrinsic and instrumental 
values, that places the arts at its centre, and that emphasises vitality rather than impacts. The 
article provides a good introduction to Australian cultural policy and the cultural statistics 
system in Australasia. It also identifies many of the issues woven throughout the other 
articles.

Carol Scott’s paper Looking for the public in Public Value: taking the pulse in Australia, 
explores how a wider notion of ‘public value’ could be used by the heritage sector in using its 
research to more effectively engage the government agencies that make up the heritage 
sector’s ‘authorizing environment’. Carol makes reference to the 2001 Australians and the 
arts study undertaken by the Australia Council for the Arts. It should be noted that since 
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Carol drafted this paper, the Council has released the results of a major new arts participation 
survey, More than bums on seats: Australian participation in the arts, which can be 
downloaded from the Council’s research hub (referenced below).

The next two articles explore the notion of art’s intrinsic impacts, building particularly on 
work undertaken in the USA by the RAND Corporation and by Alan Brown and Jennifer 
Novak. Measuring the intrinsic benefits of cultural policy acquittal, by Jennifer 
Radbourne, Hilary Glow and Katya Johanson, presents data on their tool for measuring the 
quality of audience experience, the Arts Audience Experience Index, which they have 
designed as a complement to the other tools used by arts companies and funding agencies to 
assess arts organisation performance. Meaningful measurement: a literature review and 
Australian and British case studies of arts organisations’ conducting “artistic self-
assessment”, by Jackie Bailey and Lance Richardson, takes a slightly different tack. Using 
the term ‘artistic vibrancy’, rather than the more traditional artistic excellence or quality, they 
explore assessment processes that arts organisations themselves use. The research suggests 
that, although there is no ‘one size fits all’ approach to assessing arts organisations, there are 
some identifiable practices that make for good self-assessment. 

The findings of both articles should be of considerable interest to both funders and arts 
companies looking to improve performance assessment.

Chris Gibson’s Geographical Information Systems (GIS) technology to map creativity, 
creative industries and the arts reports on two government-funded projects aimed at better 
understanding how creative life emerges in specific geographical circumstances outside 
major metropolitan centres, especially remote places, rural towns and small industrial cities. 
His research shows the usefulness of maps in making empirical research accessible to a wider 
audience, as well as how geographical analysis can challenge the preconceived notions of 
researchers and policymakers.

I hope you find the articles useful and interesting, and that they stimulate further thinking and 
research. Thanks to the authors for providing articles for this first volume in the special 
Australasian edition of Cultural Trends, and to the reviewers for providing their time and 
expertise. The second volume will present the results of recent surveys on artists and arts 
taxation, and research into the creative sector and arts funding.

Christopher Madden
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Notes

Australasian Cultural Statistics Resources

Australia 
• Cultural Ministers Council, Cultural Data Online
www.culturaldata.gov.au 
• Australian Bureau of Statistic, National Centre for Culture and Recreation Statistics
‘Topics @ a glance’ at www.abs.gov.au 
• Australia Council for the Arts, Research
www.australiacouncil.gov.au/research 
• Screen Australia, Research and statistics
‘Research and statistics’ at www.screenaustralia.gov.au 
• Australian Communications and Media Authority
‘Publications and research’ at www.acma.gov.au 

New Zealand
• Ministry for Culture and Heritage Te Manatu Taonga and Statistics New Zealand 
Tatauranga Aotearoa, Cultural statistics programme
www.mch.govt.nz/research-publications/researching-nz-culture/cultural-indicators 
• Creative New Zealand Toi Aotearoa
‘Resources’ at www.creativenz.govt.nz 
• New Zealand Film Commission Te Tumu Whakaata Taonga
‘Resources’ at www.nzfilm.co.nz 
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